ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUN 08 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARVIN BROCK JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002435

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARVIN BROCK JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002435

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in failing to exercise its discretion where it refused to accept an *Alford* plea in Appellant's case and where Appellant would have only been required to serve an additional one month and ten days incarceration pursuant to the State's plea offer and was instead sentenced to six years following his conviction by the jury?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in admitting Appellant's alleged prior bad acts, specifically that Appellant shoplifted at the Belk department store on two prior Fridays, as evidence of common scheme or plan and intent and erred in finding that the probative value of the prior acts was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?
- III. Whether the trial court erred in admitting Appellant's alleged prior bad acts where the State failed to prove the acts by clear and convincing evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 6, 2014, the Aiken County grand jury indicted Appellant Marvin Brock Johnson with one count of shoplifting, third offense. R. 171.

On November 4, 2014, Johnson proceeded to trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahan and a jury. Johnson was represented by D. Grant Gibbons, and the State was represented by assistant solicitors Jay Slocum and Cassie Hall.¹ R. 1. The jury found Johnson guilty of the charged offense. R. 162, l. 16 – 163, l. 6. Judge McMahan sentenced Johnson to six years incarceration. R. 169, ll. 1-4.

This appeal follows.

¹ The cover page of the trial transcript reflects Kevin Molony as the assistant solicitor and attorney for the State. However, the body of the transcript reveals that Mr. Slocum and Ms. Hall represented the State at trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Johnson was accused of shoplifting items from the men's department at the Belk Department store located in Aiken County. The solicitors presented testimony from Patsy Singletary, the Loss Prevention Officer ("LPO"),² who alleged that Johnson entered the Belk store, selected several items from the rack, placed them inside of his duffle bag, and proceeded toward the exit door.³ As she approached him, Johnson began removing items from his bag and placing them on the floor. R. 67, l. 18 – 70, l. 3; R. 74, l. 14 – 76, l. 3. Over defense counsel's objection, the State elicited further testimony that Johnson had shoplifted at the store on the two prior Fridays but was able to leave the store before Singletary could catch him. R. 70, l. 6 – 74, l. 12; R. 87, ll. 5-17; R. 105, l. 20 – 107, l. 17. Singletary also alleged that Johnson confessed to the prior shoplifting incidents in front of her and Maura Carstens, but she admitted that she failed to mention either of the alleged prior incidents or the "confession" to law enforcement. R. 94, l. 3 – 95, l. 15; R. 99, ll. 12-24; R. 111, ll. 1-25; R. 113, l. 1 – 114, l. 7; R. 122, ll. 3-20.

² Singletary worked as an LPO at Belk for fourteen months. R. 63, ll. 15-20. She made approximately sixty-five apprehensions for shoplifting at Belk and testified in approximately sixty shoplifting trials. R. 65, ll. 1-11.

³ Singletary testified at the pre-trial motions hearing that Johnson was "at the door" and an "area right by the home exit door" when she approached him. R. 28, ll. 13-21. She changed her testimony during the trial to indicate that Johnson's back was on the exit door when she approached, though she altered her testimony again to say that he was "heading out the door." R. 69, ll. 6-8; R. 76, ll. 9-19. Singletary later clarified that Johnson was initially at the exit door with his back towards her but that he saw police approaching, turned around and removed the items before proceeding to exit again. R. 91, l. 19 – 92, l. 18. Officer Terry testified that Singletary was escorting Johnson to the loss prevention office when he arrived. R. 116, ll. 17-20; R. 120, ll. 13-20. Johnson testified that Singletary was between him and the exit door when she confronted him. R. 130, ll. 11-16; R. 133, ll. 9-11.

Johnson testified in his defense and admitted to entering the department store with the thought of shoplifting. However, he never placed the items he picked up in his bag and ultimately changed his mind and put the items down elsewhere in the same department. He did not see the LPO until after he had set the items down and gone toward the exit door, where she blocked him from leaving. R. 128, l. 18 – 140, l. 11.

Though the incident was recorded on the store's closed circuit video system, the LPO made an error in copying the footage to CD for law enforcement. The footage copied was from approximately one hour and fifteen minutes after the incident.⁴ The error was not discovered until after the ninety day retention period on the store's video equipment had passed and the footage erased from its system.⁵ R. 35, l. 3 – 36, l. 13; R. 44, l. 11 – 46, l. 110; R. 79, l. 6 – 81, l. 3; R. 87, l. 23 – 88, l. 10; R. 102, l. 7 – 103, l. 18 ; R. 117, l. 7 – 119, l. 19; R. 123, l. 24 – 124, l. 7. No footage of the alleged prior shoplifting incidents involving Johnson were ever viewed by law enforcement or copied to CD. R. 37, l. 24 – 39, l. 7; R. 40, l. 13 – 41, l. 14.

⁴ Defense counsel noted the inconsistency in the LPO's testimony that she prepared the CD immediately following the incident at 11:30 a.m., while she showed the footage to the responding officer, and her testimony that the footage copied was from one hour and fifteen minutes after the incident. R. 144, l. 10 – 145, l. 1. Notably, Officer Terry indicated that he arrived as Johnson was being escorted to the loss prevention office and that approximately fifteen to twenty minutes passed prior to his receiving the CD and leaving. R. 120, ll. 15-17; R. 122, l. 22 – 123, l. 8.

⁵ Officer Terry testified that he viewed the relevant footage at the store and observed Johnson "kneel down on the floor, take clothing items from the shelves and conceal them inside of a camouflage bag, head towards the front of the store where he was stopped by complainant Singletary after he had removed the clothing items and attempted to leave the store." R. 125, l. 20 – 126, l. 3.

Plea Offer

Following jury selection, information was put on the record regarding the plea negotiations in Johnson's case. The State offered a plea of four years, suspended to one year, with credit for time served and drug treatment during probation. If accepted, Johnson would have only had approximately one month and ten days left to serve. By going to trial, Johnson faced a potential sentence of ten years. R. 4, l. 4 – 6, l. 5. Johnson addressed the court and explained that he had taken guilty pleas in the past because he knew he was wrong. However, in this instance, he was "right" and was not guilty. R. 6, ll. 7-18. The court reminded Johnson that "there's a lot at stake between the jury trial and potentially getting out December 14th." He also said "You'll be out and back home before I'll be back home." R. 7, ll. 1-4.

Motion in Limine on Prior Bad Acts Evidence

The court conducted a pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of the solicitors' proposed prior bad act evidence under State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923) and its progeny and under Rules 403 and 404, SCRE. R. 23, l. 24 – 56, l. 13. The State proffered that the testimony would be that Johnson shoplifted from the store on the two prior Fridays, May 10th and May 17th. R. 24, ll. 4-12. The solicitor then called two witnesses to testify at the hearing, LPO Patsy Singletary and Belk employee Rebecca Powell.

Singletary testified that she was monitoring the Belk closed circuit television when, at approximately 11:20 a.m. on May 24th, she saw Johnson enter the men's department. He selected several items and concealed them in a camouflage bag. Singletary then left the loss prevention office and saw Johnson "heading towards the exit door." R. 27, l. 6 – 28, l. 9.

She claimed that she approached him at the exit door near the clearance and home sections of the store. She identified herself as an LPO and observed Johnson “removing merchandise from the bag.” R. 28, ll. 10-25.

According to Singletary, she observed Johnson “two Saturdays⁶ in a row prior, same time, same scenario.” She claimed that on both occasions she saw Johnson enter the men’s department, select merchandise, place them into a bag, exit quickly, and get into a green van that was backed into a parking space near the main exit door. He used a purple laundry bag on May 10th. On May 17th, she was alerted to Johnson by Rebecca Powell, another Belk employee. She observed him over the video surveillance system place merchandise into a bag. On both occasions Singletary was unable to confront Johnson before he drove away. She was also unable to identify what specific items were allegedly taken on the 10th and 17th, but she later indicated they were “stacks” of shirts. R. 29, l. 1 – 31, l. 23; R. 33, l. 19 – 35, l. 2; R. 48, ll. 5-18.

Singletary admitted on cross-examination that she did not mention any prior incidents involving Johnson in her written statement for police. R. 46, l. 12 – 47, l. 14. She also did not get a license plate from the green van on May 10th and she only “got a partial plate or something” on May 17th. R. 47, ll. 15-24. No evidence was presented to link the partial plate alleged obtained to the vehicle actually driven by Johnson on May 24th.

The other witness, Powell, was shopping after her shift ended on May 17th when she allegedly observed Johnson on the sales floor exhibiting “suspicious behavior.” She saw him throw three or four items over his arm “without regard for size” and without looking at

⁶ While there was testimony that the incident occurred on a Saturday, this Court can take judicial notice that May 10th, 17th, and 24th, 2013 were all Fridays.

the price tags. She alerted Singletary via text message and did not have anything else to do with the May 17th incident. R. 50, l. 16 – 51, l. 22.

Defense counsel argued that there was no documentation or photographic evidence related to the alleged prior bad acts. Johnson was not apprehended on either of the two prior occasions and was thus never properly identified as the perpetrator. He also argued that the prior acts should be excluded under Rule 403, SCRE, because they were more prejudicial than probative. R. 53, ll. 6-23. The solicitor argued that the witnesses positively identified the defendant as being the same person they saw during the prior incidents. He argued that it was “very probative of common plan or scheme” and “probative to prove what his intent was.” R. 53, l. 25 – 54, l. 12.

The trial judge found that the State had shown clear and convincing evidence of the prior bad acts under Rule 404(b), SCRE. He further found that the events of May 10th, 17th, and 24th were similar in that they all involved the same victim and occurred during the weekend at approximately the same time of day in the men’s department. The same green van was also involved and the same type of items taken by the same modus operandi. R. 54, l. 14 – 55, l. 20.

The judge then engaged in the Rule 403, SCRE, analysis of balancing unfair prejudice versus probative value. He found “a very high degree of probative value” both as to a common scheme or plan and intent. He found that the danger of unfair prejudice was “substantially outweighed by the high probative value in the case,” thus finding the prior acts were admissible. R. 55, l. 20 – 56, l. 9.

Defense counsel renewed his objection to the prior bad acts testimony during the trial. R. 70, ll. 6-11.

The solicitor argued in her closing:

You heard Ms. Patsy [Singletary], what she saw that day, what she did that day, what she saw the two Saturdays prior to that. What makes sense? Does it make sense that she would sit there and make up a story about a guy the same Saturdays before and lo and behold the third Saturday it just happened to be Mr. Johnson? What's the smart rational thing; what does your common sense tell you?

...

Ms. Patsy talking about the purple bag on the first incident and where he was, where he knelt down and -- with this bag and threw the shirts out right before law enforcement got there after he tried to get out the door.

R. 147, l. 25 – 148, l. 17.

[T]he only reason he [Johnson] wasn't able to get those shirts is because he finally got caught on the third time. Ms. Patsy said the first two times he was too fast for her. The third time she got to him before he got to the door.

R. 149, l. 22 – 150, l. 1.

Attempt to Plead Guilty

Following the court's ruling on the motion in limine, Johnson indicated his desire to plead guilty. In response to the court's questions, Johnson advised that he was fifty-five years old, had a ninth grade education, and worked in landscaping, painting, carpentry, plumbing and as a short order cook. R. 56, l. 21 – 58, l. 24. After some additional questioning by the court, the following exchange took place:

THE COURT: Understanding then the nature of the charge, shoplifting 3rd or subsequent, and the potential punishment, how do you plead to that charge, guilty or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: I plead guilty.

THE COURT: Are you guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: I'm not guilty, but I'm pleading guilty. I'm not guilty.

THE COURT: Well, I'm not going to take your plea. Thank you very much. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Johnson.

MR. GIBBONS: Your Honor, would you entertain an *Alford*⁷ Plea.

THE COURT: No, sir. I don't, I don't, I don't typically take -- I very rarely take *Alford* pleas unless there is some showing of factual foundation that there is no memory of -- of the offense.

R. 58, l. 25 – 61, l. 13. The jury then entered the courtroom and the State began the presentation of its case.

⁷ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160 (1970).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court erred in failing to exercise its discretion where it refused to accept an *Alford* plea in Appellant's case and where Appellant would have only been required to serve an additional one month and ten days incarceration pursuant to the State's plea offer and was instead sentenced to six years following his conviction by the jury.**

Initially, the trial judge encouraged Johnson to consider accepting the State's plea offer by telling him "[t]here's a lot at stake between the jury trial and potentially getting out December 14th. You'll be out and back home before I'll be back home." R. 7, ll. 1-4. Johnson explained that he could not accept the plea offer because he did not believe he had done anything wrong. R. 6, ll. 9-18. However, after the judge ruled that the prior bad acts evidence would be admissible, Johnson expressed his desire to plead guilty. Johnson answered questions about his age, education, and background. He confirmed that he was not under the influence of any medications, drugs, or alcohol, and that he understood the proceedings, charges, and rights that he was giving up by pleading guilty. R. 56, l. 23 – 60, l. 21. When asked how he pled, Johnson said "guilty." R. 60, l. 22 – 61, l. 1. But, when asked if he was guilty, Johnson responded "I'm not guilty, but I'm pleading guilty. I'm not guilty." R. 61, ll. 2-4. Judge McMahon responded that he was not going to take his plea. Defense counsel asked the judge if he would "entertain an *Alford* plea," but the judge responded that he only takes *Alford* pleas if "there is some showing of [a] factual foundation **that there is no memory of [] the offense.**" R. 61, ll. 8-13 (emphasis added).

The trial judge failed to exercise any discretion in determining whether to accept Johnson's plea after Johnson maintained his innocence. Instead, Judge McMahon referenced a policy of rarely taking *Alford* pleas and only if there is a "factual foundation that there is no memory of [] the offense." R. 61, ll. 8-13. The trial judge's policy

contradicts the purpose of an Alford plea, which allows a defendant to enter a plea of guilty while maintaining his innocence after assessing the State's case against him and reasonably determining that it is more practical to avoid trial and be sentenced. There is no doubt that a defendant with no memory of a crime could plead guilty even prior to the court's decision in Alford. See State v. Tahash, 116 N.W.2d 666 (Minn. 1962) (affirming acceptance of guilty plea where defendant appeared convinced of his guilt but had "no definite recollection of details of crime" because of his use of alcohol). However, it is axiomatic that a lack of memory would greatly impact a defendant's ability to properly evaluate the legal alternatives in his case. Thus, the requirement that a defendant have "no memory" of the crime as a prerequisite to acceptance an Alford plea misapprehends the reasoning of Alford. See Alford, 400 U.S. at 38, 91 S.Ct. at 168 ("The prohibitions against involuntary or unintelligent pleas should not be relaxed, but neither should an **exercise in arid logic** render those constitutional guarantees counterproductive and put in jeopardy the very human values they were meant to preserve." (emphasis added)). Johnson was prejudiced by the refusal to accept his plea because he received a sentence of six years in contrast to the forty days of active incarceration that he would have served pursuant to the plea negotiations.

Purpose of Alford Pleas

In Alford, the United States Supreme Court determined that an "express admission of guilt" was "not a constitutional requisite to the imposition of criminal penalty." 400 U.S. at 37, 91 S.Ct. at 167. "An individual accused of [a] crime may voluntarily, knowingly, and understandingly consent to the imposition of a prison sentence even if he is **unwilling or unable** to admit his participation in the acts

constituting the crime.” Id. (emphasis added). The Alford Court noted the reasoning of several jurisdictions that historically allowed the entry of such pleas, which included that “they should not force any defense on a defendant in a criminal case, particularly when advancement of the defense might end in disaster;” “since guilt, or the degree of guilt, is at times uncertain and elusive, an accused, **though believing in or entertaining doubts respecting his innocence, might reasonably conclude a jury would be convinced of his guilt and that he would fare better in the sentence by pleading guilty;**” and “reasons other than the fact that he is guilty may induce a defendant to so plead, and he must be permitted to judge for himself in this respect.” Id. at 33-34, 91 S.Ct. at 165 (emphasis added).

With respect to Alford’s case in particular, the Court found that the defendant “intelligently conclude[d] that his interests require entry of a guilty plea.” Id. at 37, 91 S.Ct. at 167. The record contained a strong factual basis for the plea, as there was strong evidence of guilt. Id. at 37-38, 91 S.Ct. at 167-68. Thus, Alford had “nothing to gain by a trial and much to gain by pleading.” Id. Further, Alford clearly expressed his desire to enter a guilty plea despite his professed belief in his innocence. Id. Similarly, in the present case, the trial court heard a majority of the evidence against Johnson during the pre-trial motions, which provided the requisite factual basis for the plea. As evidenced by the disparity of five years of active incarceration between the negotiated sentence pursuant to a plea versus the sentence following the trial, Johnson also had much to lose from proceeding to trial.

In United States v. Gaskins, 485 F.2d 1046, 1047-48 (D.C. Cir. 1991), the D.C. Circuit Court reviewed the trial court’s rejection of Gaskins’ plea because Gaskins was

unwilling to give an unequivocal confession of guilt to unlawful entry, instead contending that he entered because “some dude pointed a gun at me and told me to go in the house.” The Gaskins court recognized that Alford did not impute an absolute right to the defendant to have his guilty plea accepted by the court and noted that a court has discretion in deciding whether to accept a plea. Id. at 1048. However, the court held that “it is an abuse of discretion to refuse a guilty plea solely because the defendant does not admit the alleged facts of the crime.”⁸ Id. (citing McCoy v. United States, 363 F.2d 306, 307 (D.C. Cir. 1966) (finding that Fed. Rule Crim. Proc. 11 “‘resposes a discretion’ in the court to refuse a guilty plea, but add[ing], ‘the plea should not be refused without good reason.’”)).

The Gaskins court also noted the importance of the plea bargaining process, which is “as essential component of the administration of justice.” Id. at 1049. Defendants plead guilty for a variety of reasons. See Brady v. United States, 397 U.S.

⁸ The Gaskins court explained that the following procedure should be followed when the court is asked to accept an Alford plea:

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