ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 31 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MARVIN BROCK JOHNSON,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2014-002435

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

STROM THURMOND, JR.
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

PO Box 3368
Aiken, SC 29802

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to accept a plea with no negotiations or recommendations under North Carolina v. Alford, and the issue is not preserved for review. Further, Appellant was not prejudiced by the trial court's ruling because Appellant was not punished for going to trial.

Prior to trial, the trial court enquired about whether the shoplifting charge would be a third or more property crime for purposes of enhancement and inquired as to the exposure for the charge. SUPP. ROA. p. 1, lines 8-24. The trial court also inquired as to the last plea offer from the State, which was an offer of four years imprisonment suspended to one year imprisonment and probation. ROA. p. 4.³ Johnson asked to speak and advised the trial court he was not guilty and was hoping the jury would not find him guilty. He indicated he wanted a jury trial. ROA. p. 6.

After opening arguments from the parties and an in camera hearing on the admission of prior bad acts, the court recessed for lunch. Following the lunch break, Johnson attempted to plead guilty. ROA. pp. 56-57. When the trial court asked if he wanted to give up his right to a jury trial, Johnson replied, "I guess so." ROA. p. 60, lines 17. The trial court then asked Johnson if he was guilty and Johnson replied, "I'm not guilty, but I'm pleading guilty. I'm not guilty." ROA. p. 61, lines 2-4. The trial court informed Johnson he was not going to

³ Johnson claims in his brief the offer was for a negotiated sentence (App. Br. p. 15), but the record is silent as to whether the offer was for a recommended sentence or a negotiated sentence. Nonetheless, the trial court was not required to accept the plea. State v. Rosier, 312 S.C. 145, 439 S.E.2d 307 (Ct. App. 1993); see also Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 511 S.E.2d 396 (Ct. App. 1999) (discussing contract principals implicated in a guilty plea and noting a trial judge is not required to accept a guilty plea).

accept the plea. ROA. p. 61, lines 5-7. Then Johnson’s counsel asked if he would accept an Alford plea. The trial court explained: “No, sir. I don’t . . . typically take – I very rarely take Alford pleas unless there is a showing of factual foundation that there is no memory of – of the offense.” ROA. p. 61, lines 10-13.⁴ **Johnson’s counsel accepted the ruling.** ROA. p. 61, line 15. Note the record fails to show whether the State was still offering its last plea offer or any plea offer at all when the trial court began colloquy concerning the aborted plea. Note the record is also silent as to whether the State was willing to offer a plea bargain premised on an Alford plea.

Johnson claims the trial court abused its discretion by not exercising its discretion in refusing to consider an Alford plea. The issue is not preserved for review because Johnson and his counsel never argued to the trial court that it was abusing its discretion, or not exercising its discretion, in refusing to consider an Alford plea. Johnson made no argument to the trial court as to why the trial court’s rationale for not considering an Alford plea was wrong. Therefore, the issue is simply not reviewable. Stephens v. CSX Transportation, Inc., 400 S.C. 503, 735 S.E.2d 505 (Ct. App. 2012) (finding “[b]ecause Stephens did not present this argument to the trial court, the court was not given the opportunity to exercise its discretion as to that argument, and the argument is not preserved for appeal.”) *rev’d on other grounds by* Stephens v. CSX Transportation, Inc., ___ S.C. ___, 781 S.E.2d 534 (2015); State v. Sosebee, 284 S.C. 411, 413, 326 S.E.2d 654, 655 (1985) (finding “[n]o objection

⁴ Johnson only quotes the “unless” clause, which distorts the trial court’s meaning – “rare” and “typically” does not constitute never, as Johnson implies. See App. Br. p. 13. A fair reading of the comment was the trial court was explaining the court only takes Alford pleas in extraordinary circumstances, **such as** when the defendant cannot remember the offense.

was made to either of these alleged errors nor was a motion for a new trial made such that the judge might have an opportunity to correct a mistake if there be such.”). When a party accepts a trial court’s ruling without objection, the issue is not preserved for review. State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 486, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1992); see Lindsay v. Lindsay, 328 S.C. 329, 491 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 1997) (holding an appellate court will affirm a ruling by a trial judge if offended party does not challenge that ruling; failure to challenge ruling is abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal). “[I]t is the responsibility of trial counsel to preserve issues for appellate review.” Jackson v. Speed, 326 S.C. 289, 306 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997). In the instant case, Johnson simply did not challenge the trial court’s reasoning for not accepting an Alford plea, so the issue is not preserved for review.

Additionally, the trial court did not abuse its discretion. In North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), the United States Supreme Court found the plea judge did not commit constitutional error in accepting a guilty plea from the appellant, even though the appellant contended he was innocent, because of the strong evidence establishing his guilt and his desire to gain the benefit of a plea bargain to avoid the death penalty. The Supreme Court concluded a trial court is not prohibited from accepting a guilty plea despite a defendant’s protestation of innocence where the defendant nonetheless determines pleading guilty is in the defendant’s best interests. Id. at 37.

However, as noted by this Court in State v. Paris, 354 S.C. 1, 578 S.E.2d 751 (Ct. App. 2003),⁵ Alford only speaks to whether the trial court errs in accepting a plea despite a defendant’s claim of innocence. It does not speak as to under what circumstances, if any, a

trial court might be required to accept such a plea.

Johnson attempts to distinguish, or rather avoid, Paris by reference to State v. Smith, 276 S.C. 494, 280 S.E.2d 200 (1981). However, Smith has no application to the present case. In Smith, the defendant was tried in his absence and the trial judge sealed his sentence. Once apprehended, the defendant's sentence was published; however, the trial judge stated he was without jurisdiction to alter the sealed sentence, which was an error of law. The Supreme Court reversed the sentence and remanded for a hearing on the motion to alter or amend the sentence because it was "apparent here the sentencing judge did not exercise any discretion but [instead] based his ruling on an erroneous view of the law." Id. at 497, 276 S.C. at 202. In the instant case, the trial court was well aware he could accept an Alford plea, but chose not to, for good reason.

Courts are understandably reluctant to accept pleas without an admission of guilt. A federal district judge opined, "Although the general policy of this Court is hostile to the acceptance of [a nolo contendere] plea, circumstances surrounding the event and the condition of the defendant frequently make a strong appeal to the exercise of the Court's discretion." United States v. Bagliore, 182 F.Supp. 714, 716 (E.D. N.Y. 1960). Citing Bagliore, another district court judge wrote, "It has been said that courts are 'hostile' to [a nolo contendere] plea. . . . Whether this be so or not, they are at least reluctant to accept it unless the circumstances of the case are so exceptional as to appeal to a favorable exercise of (the court's) discretion. . . ." United States v. Faucette, 223 F.Supp. 199, 200 (S.D. N.Y. 1963). The First Circuit noted, "Acceptance of a nolo plea is solely a matter of grace."

⁵ Johnson predicted in his brief that Respondent would cite this case. Johnson was right.

United States v. David E. Thompson, Inc., 621 F.2d 1147, 1150 (1st Cir. 1980) (citation and quotation marks omitted). The First Circuit observed it was unaware of any case in which an appeals court reversed a district court's refusal to accept a plea of nolo contendere unsupported by the prosecution. Id.

United States Attorney General Herbert Brownell, Jr., issued a directive in 1953 remonstrating on the routine use of nolo contendere pleas:

One of the factors which has tended to breed contempt for the Federal law enforcement in recent times has been the practice of permitting as a matter of course in many criminal indictments the plea of nolo contendere. . . . [A] person permitted to plead nolo contendere admits his guilt for the purpose of imposing punishment for his acts and yet, for all other purposes, and as far as the public is concerned, persists in its denial of wrongdoing. It is no wonder that the public regards consent to such a plea by the Government as an admission that is has only a technical case at most and that the whole proceeding was just a fiasco.

Gurevich, Mark, Justice Department's Policy of Opposing Nolo Contendere Pleas: a Justification 6 Cal. Crim. L. Rev. 2, p. 22 (January, 2004) (quoting reproduction of the directive in the United States Attorney's Manual § 9-16.010).

This Court likewise quoted favorably the First Circuit's observation that "a conviction affects more than the court and the defendant; the public is involved. . . . [T]he public might well not understand or accept the fact that a defendant who denied his guilt was nonetheless placed in a position of pleading guilty and going to jail. . . ." Paris, 354 S.C. at 3, 578 S.E.2d at 752 (quoting United States v. Bednarski, 445 F.2d 364, 366 (1st Cir. 1971)).

Shoplifting is a crime with significant hidden costs beyond the obvious value of the

stolen items. Of course the costs are staggering. The National Association for Shoplifting Prevention (NASP) estimates more than \$13 billion worth of goods are stolen from retailers each year. National Association for Shoplifting Prevention, The Shoplifting Problem in the Nation. www.shpliftingprevention.org/what-we-do/learing-resource-center (last visited March 1, 2016).⁶ The NASP website further notes shoplifting hurts communities due to the burden placed on police and courts, the corruption of youth, the loss of local and state sales tax revenue, and “the inconvenience and invasiveness of security measures to consumers when shopping in stores.” Id.

The last issue is particularly troublesome, as noted by an online article from the Houston Chronicle’s Small Business webpage: “Heightened security measures can serve as a deterrent to ideal customers who may feel a level of guilt by association.” Kokemuller, Neil, The Effects Shoplifting Has on a Business, smallbusiness.chron.com/effects-shoplifting-business-59560.html (last visited March 1, 2016). The same article further explains, “The negative measures taken to deter shoplifting can impede employee instincts toward a positive and welcoming attitude with customers. Employees also may become overly suspicious of customers and get overzealous in their efforts to protect the store’s inventory.” Id.

Retailers are subject to a multiplier effect from the value of stolen merchandise because retail establishments operate on profit margins. A Rutgers University article notes the following:

[I]f you have a 10% profit margin, and someone steals a \$2.00

⁶ The North Augusta Belk store certainly experienced its share in these figures. Singletary testified she apprehended sixty-five shoplifters and testified in court sixty times in the mere fourteen month span she was employed at Belk. ROA. p. 65, lines 1-11.

item, you will have to sell \$20.00 in merchandise to make up for that loss. Some stores have very low profit margins, and suffer greatly because of shoplifting. Grocery stores often have profit margins of around 1%. If someone shoplifts steaks worth \$7.00, the store must sell goods worth \$700.00 to recover the loss. It's easy to see how out-of-control shoplifting can quickly threaten the viability of your business.

School of Criminal Justice at Rutgers's University, How much does shoplifting cost me? <http://crimeprevention.rutgers.edu/crime/shoplifting/costs.htm> (last accessed February 19, 2016). An online CNN article from 2009 reported on the spike in shoplifting in the United States resulting from the economic downturn. The article reported the spike in shoplifting cost consumers \$435 per family that year. Kavilanz, Parija B., Store theft cost to your family: \$435 http://money.cnn.com/2009/11/10/news/economy/retail_recession_theft/ CNN Money (last accessed February 19, 2016). Considering these statistics, it is hardly surprising that Belk would be willing to incur the cost of recruiting from law enforcement agencies to hire loss prevention employees to combat this epidemic.

People like Johnson cause Belk to necessarily incur these costs and pass them on to South Carolina's consumers. Allowing Johnson to plead but yet protest his innocence would demean the trial court's role to the end stage of a cat and mouse game rather than provide the forum for a proper recognition of the societal impact of his crime or the platform for Johnson to express moral atonement for his crime.

Of course, the record does not suggest that Johnson, who attempted to plead guilty without negotiations or recommendations, was punished for going to trial. See Davis v. State, 336 S.C. 329, 333, 520 S.E.2d 801, 803 (1999) (it is impermissible for the sentencing

court to consider the exercise of the right to trial in pronouncing a sentence). Johnson fails to show he was prejudiced by the trial court's decision to not consider an Alford plea.

In the instant case, Johnson, fifty-five years old, certainly must have long ago learned it is wrong to shoplift from stores, but unfortunately he lacks the will to conform his conduct appropriately. The trial court's sentence certainly was reasonable considering this was his seventh shoplifting conviction and his fifteenth property offense. The trial court also was reasonable to believe no extraordinary circumstance existed to agree to accept an Alford plea in the instant case. Admission of the crime the evidence so clearly shows Johnson committed is likely a predicate for a future change in his behavior. The trial court justly refused to consider an Alford plea in this case and did not abuse his discretion.

II.

The trial court did not err in admitting Appellant's prior bad acts because the bad acts are sufficiently similar to show a common scheme or plan and are also probative of Appellant's intent. The probative value of the evidence did not outweigh the danger of unfair prejudice. Further, the trial court did not err in finding evidence of these prior bad acts was clear and convincing (Appellant's Issues II and III).

Johnson argues the trial court erred in allowing testimony about Johnson's two prior shoplifting incidents at the same Belk store in North Augusta. However, the evidence of these uncharged prior bad acts was admissible because the incidents fall under both the intent and common scheme or plan exceptions of Rule 404(b), SCRE. Further, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it found the evidence met the clear and convincing standard, and the probative value of the evidence outweighed the potential for unfair prejudice. Thus, it was proper for the trial court to admit the evidence of the prior bad acts.

Evidence of prior crimes, wrongs, or acts by a defendant is generally inadmissible to prove the defendant's propensity to commit the charge for which he has been charged. Rule 404(b), SCRE. However, such evidence may be admissible to prove motive, intent, common scheme or plan, identity of the perpetrator, or lack of accident or mistake. See Rule 404(b), SCRE; State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). To fall under one of these exceptions, there must be a logical connection between the prior criminal acts and the current crime charged. Lyle, 125 S.C. at 417, 118 S.E. at 807.

In State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 153, 561 S.E.2d 640, 645 (Ct. App. 2002), this Court paved a foundation for admitting prior bad acts in cases involving drug dealing:

To admit prior bad acts regarding drugs under the Lyle exception, there must be a logical relevance between the acts in question and the purpose for introduction. See State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 512, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582 (1999) (“The record must support a logical relevance between the prior bad act and the crime for which the defendant is accused.”). “Under Rule 401, SCRE, evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.”

Id. at 153, 561 S.E.2d at 645 (Ct. App. 2002) (concluding citations omitted).

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